COPY

S228277

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF CALIFORNIA

8.25(b)/ SUPREME COURT FILED

CRC

DEC 1 5 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

WILLIAM PARRISH and E. TIMOTHY FITZGIBBONS,

Deputy

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

VS.

LATHAM & WATKINS, LLP and DANIEL SCHECTER,

Defendants and Respondents,

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION 3, CASE NO. B244841 HON. JAMES R. DUNN, JUDGE, SUP. CT. NO. BC482394

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

EAGAN AVENATTI LLP

MICHAEL J. AVENATTI, SBN 206929 SCOTT H. SIMS, SBN 234148 450 NEWPORT CENTER DRIVE., 2ND FLOOR NEWPORT BEACH, CALIFORNIA 92660 TELEPHONE: (949) 706-7000

PANISH, SHEA & BOYLE, LLP

ISSUES PRESENTED

- (1) Does the denial of former employees' motion for summary judgment in an action for misappropriation of trade secrets conclusively establish that their former employer had probable cause to bring the action and thus preclude the employees' subsequent action for malicious prosecution, even if the trial court in the prior action later found that it had been brought in bad faith?
- (2) Is the former employees' malicious prosecution action against the employer's former attorneys barred by the one-year statute of limitations in Code of Civil Procedure section 304.6?

INTRODUCTION

In its published opinion, the Court of Appeal expressly rejected *Slaney v. Ranger Insurance Co.* (2004) 115 Cal.App.4th 306, creating a direct conflict among the Courts of Appeal as to when a malicious prosecution plaintiff can establish lack of probable cause when a summary judgment motion in the underlying action is denied. The Court adopted a rigid interpretation of the "interim adverse judgment rule" concluding that the denial of summary judgment in the underlying action conclusively establishes probable cause to initiate and prosecute that action unless the malicious prosecution plaintiff can establish that the evidence submitted in opposition to the summary judgment motion was the product of either "fraud" or "perjury."

This Court should now reestablish that it is proper to consider circumstances beyond whether there was fraud or perjury in determining whether the earlier denial of summary judgment conclusively establishes probable cause. The defendants in this action are a law firm (Latham & Watkins, LLP) and a partner at the firm (Daniel Schechter, collectively with Latham & Watkins, LLP, "Latham") who previously

¹ In the Opinion, the Court stated that plaintiffs did not assert that the evidence submitted in opposition to the summary judgment was the product of fraud or perjury and, therefore, the Court would not reach that issue. This was inaccurate. Plaintiffs did directly and extensively argue that the denial of summary judgment was obtained in the underlying action through the submission of evidence that was the product of fraud or perjury. (See, e.g., AOB at pp. 37-38; ARB at pp. 9-12.) Indeed, Plaintiffs pointed out this important inaccuracy in their Petition for Rehearing, which was denied.

represented FLIR Systems, Inc. and Indigo Systems Corporation (collectively "FLIR") in an underlying trade secret action styled *FLIR Systems, Inc., et al. v. Parrish, et al.* (the "Underlying Action"). Plaintiffs in this action, William Parrish ("Parrish") and E. Timothy Fitzgibbons ("Fitzgibbons" and collectively with Parrish "Plaintiffs") were the defendants in the Underlying Action.

In the Underlying Action, the trial court rendered express findings, later affirmed by the Court of Appeal in a published decision, that the action was both objectively specious and prosecuted with subjective bad faith. (FLIR Sys., Inc. v. Parrish (2009) 174 Cal.App.4th 1270, 1275.) Based upon these express findings the trial court in the Underlying Action awarded, and the Court of Appeal affirmed, attorney's fees under Civil Code section 3426.4. Importantly, the Court concluded that the denial of summary judgment in that action did not preclude sanctions because the expert declarations submitted in support of the summary judgment opposition were materially false. This decision was subsequently affirmed by the Court of Appeal in a detailed published opinion. (Id. at p. 1282 ["Appellants opposed the summary judgment motion with expert declarations suggesting there was a scientific methodology to predict the likelihood of trade secret misuse. The trial court found that respondents made a compelling argument for summary judgment but 'the concepts involved in this action are highly technical.' . . . At trial, appellants' experts admitted there was no valid scientific methodology to predict trade secret misuse and agreed that no trade secrets were misappropriated."])

Plaintiffs subsequently initiated this action for malicious prosecution. Latham then filed a special motion to strike raising the same argument (among other things) that was rejected in the Underlying Action, namely that under the interim adverse judgment rule Latham had probable cause as a matter of law to initiate and prosecute the Underlying Action because the trial court in the Underlying Action had denied a defense motion for summary judgment. Plaintiffs explained that this argument failed because, among other things, the trial court and the Court of Appeal in the underlying action each concluded that the actions was prosecuted in bad faith and that the claims were subjectively and objectively specious. Plaintiffs further explained that the trial court's denial of summary judgment in the underlying case did not establish probable cause because, among other things, the evidence submitted in opposition to the summary judgment motion was false and fraudulent.

In its first published opinion in this matter written by Justice Klein and signed by Justice Kitching, the Court of Appeal agreed with Plaintiffs. The third member of the panel, Justice Croskey did not sign the opinion for health reasons, and passed away shortly after it was issued. Later, however, the Court of Appeal granted rehearing *sua sponte* and withdrew its previous published opinion. The Court of Appeal then issued a second published opinion in this matter on the same issue. In it, the Court of Appeal directly contradicted its earlier published opinion written by Justice Klein only months prior, and in doing so expressly rejected another published opinion from the Second District (*Slaney v. Ranger Insurance Co.* (2004) 115 Cal.App.4th 306). The Court of

Appeal concluded that unless the evidence submitted in opposition to a summary judgment motion in the underlying action can be labeled as "perjury" or "fraud" (it can be here), then as a matter of law, a ruling in the underlying action denying summary judgment conclusively establishes probable cause such that no malicious prosecution claim can lie. The Court of Appeal then failed to address Plaintiffs' extensive arguments that the evidence submitted in opposition to the summary judgment in the underlying action was the product of fraud or perjury. (See, e.g., AOB at pp. 37-38; ARB at pp. 9-12.)

In issuing its second opinion, the Court of Appeal expanded the application of the interim adverse judgment doctrine well beyond it intended boundaries. That doctrine only requires, at most, that there be "unfair conduct" which may be, but is not limited to, fraud or perjury in order to rebut the presumption of probable cause. When a lawyer submits materially false evidence (such as the expert declarations here) to support a legally untenable claim (as the underlying trial court and Court of Appeal found) then there is at least a triable issue of fact whether there has been "unfair conduct" sufficient to rebut the presumption of probable cause and defeat an anti-SLAPP motion. Probable cause is based on an objective test, and thus in order to establish lack of probable cause the malicious prosecution plaintiff need only show either no reasonable law firm would have thought the claim tenable. Yet, under the Court of Appeal's opinion, where the underlying plaintiff survived summary judgment, the malicious prosecution plaintiff must

go even further and demonstrate that the law firm secured the summary judgment denial through actual fraud or perjury. This is a significant departure from the law.

The rule adopted by the Court of Appeal will cause considerable mischief. For instance, if, in the immediate aftermath of a summary judgment denial in the underlying action, the party prosecuting that action becomes aware that there is no probable cause for the continued prosecution of that action then it will know that it nevertheless is insulated from malicious prosecution for that continued prosecution unless it can be established that the evidence submitted in opposition to the summary judgment motion was the product of fraud or perjury. The effect of such a rule is that parties who believe they are being victimized by a maliciously prosecuted action will be deterred from attempting to minimize their damages by moving for summary judgment. They will know that if the motion is denied (whether rightly or wrongly) then they will likely be precluded from seeking recovery for malicious prosecution no matter how apparent it is in the aftermath of the summary judgment denial that the underlying action should not be prosecuted.

Second, the Court of Appeal in this case concluded that the statute of limitations in Code of Civil Procedure section 340.6 did not apply to an adverse party's claim for malicious prosecution against the lawyer who prosecuted the underlying action. In the aftermath of the Court's decision, this Court decided *Lee v. Hanley* (2015) 61 Cal.4th 1225. There, this Court concluded that section 340.6 applied to claims that "necessarily depend on proof that an attorney violated a professional obligation in the course of providing professional services. " (*Id.* at pp. 1236-1237.) *Lee* is therefore not

controlling here. An attorney's liability for malicious prosecution is not dependent on proof that the attorney violated a professional obligation. Just as with the conversion claim in *Lee*, the very fact that a non-attorney can be liable for malicious prosecution demonstrates that an attorney's liability is not dependent on the attorney violating a professional obligation. There is therefore no basis to conclude that a malicious prosecution claim against a client may be timely but that same claim arising from the very same conduct may be time barred against the lawyer who represented that client.

In any event, even if this Court concluded that *Lee* applied to malicious prosecution claims against adverse counsel, that conclusion would not support dismissal of this action because (1) since plaintiffs were entitled to rely upon existing case law that their malicious prosecution claim was governed by a two year statute of limitations, any such conclusion should be given prospective application only and (2) even if section 340.6 were held to control plaintiffs' claims, questions of fact remain whether plaintiffs' malicious prosecution claim was timely under the delayed discovery rule as Plaintiffs were not on notice of their claims against Latham until Latham's former clients asserted in a separate malicious prosecution action filed by Plaintiffs that they were relying on advice of their counsel (Latham) in prosecuting the Underlying Action. That disclosure occurred within the one-year period and thus Plaintiffs' lawsuit was timely.

In short, this Court should reverse the Court of Appeal's opinion in this case and reinstate Plaintiffs' malicious prosecution claim.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Background.

Plaintiffs Parrish and Fitzgibbons are former shareholders and officers of Indigo, a company which manufactures and sells microbolometers. (AA 772, 775.) A microbolometer is a device used in connection with infrared cameras, night vision, and thermal imaging. (*Ibid.*) In 2004, FLIR purchased Indigo for approximately \$185 million, acquiring Indigo's patents, technology and intellectual property. FLIR manufactures and sells infrared cameras, night vision and thermal imaging systems that use microbolometers. Immediately after the sale, Parrish and Fitzgibbons went to work for FLIR. However, late in 2005 as they approached the end of their non-compete agreements with FLIR, Parrish and Fitzgibbons decided that they would start a new company to mass produce bolometers after completing their non-compete agreements. The new company was based on a business plan previously developed by Fitzgibbons in 1998, while he was self-employed and before he joined Indigo in September 1999. (*Ibid.*)

Before leaving their employment with FLIR, Parrish and Fitzgibbons discussed with FLIR the possibility of allowing FLIR to participate in the new business venture, and proposed outsourcing bolometer production to a third party. (AA 772, 775.) Parrish and Fitzgibbons also offered FLIR a non-controlling interest in their new business venture, but FLIR rejected the offers. Accordingly, on or about January 6, 2006, having

completed their non-compete agreements, Parrish and Fitzgibbons ended their employment with FLIR. (*Ibid.*)

As part of their new business venture, which would compete with FLIR for market share, Parrish and Fitzgibbons entered into business discussions with Raytheon Corporation ("Raytheon"). (AA 772, 775.) Raytheon is a major American defense contractor and an industrial corporation with core manufacturing concentrations in defense systems and defense and commercial electronics. Parrish and Fitzgibbons' negotiations with Raytheon involved the new business venture acquiring licensing, technology and manufacturing facilities from Raytheon, and selling goods to Raytheon. (*Ibid.*)

Fearful of losing sales, customers and revenue, and unwilling to accept competition from Parrish and Fitzgibbons, FLIR, represented by Latham, initiated the malicious and bad faith Underlying Action in June 2006. (AA 300, 773, 776.) The Underlying Action was tried before the Hon. James Brown in December 2007. On June 13, 2008, Judge Brown issued a 25-page Statement of Decision and entered judgment in favor of Parrish and Fitzgibbons and against Latham's client FLIR. (AA 93.) Judge Brown found that FLIR "initiated and continued to pursue [the] action in bad faith and primarily for the anticompetitive motive of preventing [Parrish and Fitzgibbons] from attempting to create a new business in competition with [FLIR]." (AA 108.)

Judge Brown further held that "[FLIR's] suspicions regarding [Parrish and Fitzgibbons] were not sufficient to justify the filing of the lawsuit on June 15, 2006" and

that FLIR and Latham "proceeded on a theory that Defendants would misuse trade secret[s] in the future, [even though] that 'inevitable disclosure] type of theory is not supported by California law." (AA 112.)

Judge Brown further held that FLIR "initiated and maintained the lawsuit in bad faith in that [FLIR] did not have a sufficient basis to initiate and maintain the lawsuit and failed to take reasonable measures to allay their fears by learning more about [Parrish and Fitzgibbons'] plans" (AA 114) and that FLIR "knew, or should have known, that they did not have a sufficient evidentiary basis to initiate the lawsuit." (AA 115.)

He also rejected the argument that the earlier denial of summary judgment prevented a finding of bad faith. Importantly, he specifically found that FLIR (and Latham) "opposed the summary judgment motion with expert declarations suggesting that there was a scientific methodology to predict the likelihood of trade secret misuse."

(FLIR Systems, 174 Cal.App.4th at 1282.) Judge Brown relied on these expert declarations in denying summary judgment, specifically citing them as the evidence giving rise to a triable issue. (AA 87 ["plaintiffs have produced sufficient evidence, for example with the Neikirk and Murphy declarations, to raise a triable issue as to misappropriation of trade secrets."].) The trial court in the Underlying Action was deceived by Latham because, as the trial court later found, the idea that there is a scientific methodology to predict the likelihood of trade secret misuse was a "materially false fact" -- "[a]t trial, [FLIR's] experts admitted there was no valid scientific methodology to predict trade secret misuse and agreed that no trade secrets were

misappropriated." (FLIR Systems, Inc., 174 Cal.App.4th 1272; AA 361, 781-782 [in sealed volume].)

Additionally, Judge Brown found "[t]he lawsuit caused business harm" to Parrish and Fitzgibbons. (AA 116.) Based on his finding of bad faith, Judge Brown awarded Parrish and Fitzgibbons attorneys' fees and costs under the Uniform Trade Secrets Act. (AA 117.) Thereafter, the Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment and Judge Brown's finding that FLIR initiated and maintained the lawsuit in bad faith. (*FLIR Systems, Inc. v. Parrish* (2009) 174 Cal.App.4th 1270; AA 282.) Plaintiffs later initiated this malicious prosecution action.

B. Latham's Motion To Strike And Plaintiffs' Subsequent Appeal.

In response to Plaintiffs' malicious prosecution claim, Latham filed a special motion to strike under Code of Civil Procedure section 425.16. Latham argued that it satisfied the first prong of the anti-SLAPP statute because a claim for malicious prosecution implicates protected activity. (AA 54.) Latham then argued that Plaintiffs did not have a probability of prevailing on the merits sufficient to satisfy the second prong of the anti-SLAPP statute because Plaintiffs' claims were time barred under the one year statute of limitations applicable to actions for legal malpractice. (Code Civ. Proc., § 340.6.) Latham claimed this statute applies to all actions against lawyers relating to

services they provide, including actions for malicious prosecution brought by a non-client and former adversary. (AA 64.)

Latham also argued that plaintiffs would not be able to establish a probability of prevailing on their malicious prosecution claim because, in the Underlying Action,

Parrish and Fitzgibbons had moved for summary judgment as to the claims against them and the trial court in the Underlying Action court had denied that motion. Based on this denial, Latham argued Plaintiffs were precluded from establishing that the Underlying Action was initiated and prosecuted without probable cause. (AA 68.)

In their opposition to the motion to strike, Plaintiffs argued they were able to establish a probability of prevailing on the merits for multiple reasons.

First, there was ample evidence that Latham initiated the Underlying Action and continued its prosecution without probable cause. This evidence included the same facts that led the trial court and the Court of Appeal in the Underlying Action to conclude that action was both objectively specious and prosecuted with subjective bad faith. In addition, Plaintiffs subsequently learned of FLIR's assertion it had prosecuted the Underlying Action based upon the advice of Latham. (AA 253-259.)

Second, Plaintiffs also argued that this action was not time barred under Code of Civil Procedure section 340.6 because: (1) the two year statute of limitations contained in section 335.1 applies; (2) the text, history of purpose of section 340.6 demonstrates that it was not intended to apply to third party actions for malicious prosecution against a lawyer and (3) even if section 340.6 did apply, then Plaintiffs' action was timely under the

delayed discovery doctrine because Plaintiffs did not have cause to allege that Latham was responsible for the malicious prosecution of the underlying action until Latham's former client (FLIR) asserted it had acted on the advice of their counsel in filing and prosecuting the Underlying Action. (AA 259-264.)

The trial court granted the motion to strike on statute of limitations grounds only and declined to address Latham's probable cause argument. Plaintiffs then appealed.

During the pendency of plaintiffs' appeal, the Court of Appeal decided *Roger Cleveland Golf Company, Inc. v. Krane & Smith, APC* (2014) 225 Cal.App.4th 660, concluding that Code of Civil Procedure section 340.6 does not apply to malicious prosecution claims against an adverse lawyer. Thus, the focus of the appeal shifted to Latham's assertion that the denial of summary judgment in the underlying action conclusively established that the action was initiated and prosecuted with probable cause even though the underlying trial court rendered express findings, affirmed by the Court of Appeal in a published decision, that the underlying action was both objectively specious and prosecuted with subjective bad faith and even though those courts concluded that materially false evidence was submitted in opposition to the summary judgment motion. (*FLIR Sys., Inc. v. Parrish* (2009) 174 Cal.App.4th 1270, 1275.)

The Court of Appeal in this case initially issued an unanimous published decision reversing the anti-SLAPP dismissal and concluding that the denial of summary judgment in the underlying action <u>did not</u> conclusively establish probable cause because (1) the underlying trial court and the Court of Appeal each concluded that the underlying action

was objectively and subjectively specious and (2) the summary judgment was denied as a result of materially false expert declarations. That opinion was filed one day before

Justice Croskey died and was signed by then Presiding Justice Klein and Justice Kitching, only.

Latham petitioned for rehearing in part on the ground that the Opinion was signed by only two Justices. That Petition was denied. However, shortly thereafter, the Court granted rehearing on its own initiative.

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