INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeal rightly affirmed the dismissal of this malicious prosecution action. It correctly held that a trial court's denial of summary judgment conclusively establishes that there is probable cause for that action and thus precludes any later finding of malicious prosecution regardless of how the action eventually resolves on the merits. That holding is consistent with this Court's precedent in *Wilson v. Parker, Covert & Chidester* (2002) 28 Cal.4th 811, and should be affirmed.

The Court of Appeal erred in holding that a malicious prosecution action against a lawyer for prosecuting an action on behalf of a client is not a "[a]n action against an attorney for a wrongful act or omission, other than for actual fraud, arising in the performance of professional services" subject to the one-year statute of limitations of Code of Civil Procedure Section 340.6(a). That holding is inconsistent with the text of Section 340.6(a) and this Court's decision in *Lee v. Hanley* (2015) 61 Cal.4th 1225, and should be reversed.

The judgment should be affirmed on both grounds.

OVERVIEW

Petitioners Parrish and Fitzgibbons were shareholders and senior executives of Indigo Systems, a company that owned intellectual property related to high-tech infrared sensors. In 2004, Petitioners and Indigo's other shareholders sold the company for \$185 million to FLIR Systems. Petitioners remained executives at Indigo.

Less than two years later, Petitioners announced their plan to form a new company that would compete directly with FLIR in the production of infrared components. Representing FLIR and Indigo (collectively, "FLIR"), Latham & Watkins and its partner Daniel Schecter (collectively, "Latham") filed a trade secret action in Santa Barbara Superior Court.

In that action, each Petitioner moved for summary judgment and, alternatively, for summary adjudication on each cause of action. The Court denied the motions on the merits.

However, following trial, the Santa Barbara Court ruled against FLIR and also found that the action had been brought in "bad faith" as that term is used in the California Uniform Trade Secrets Act, Civil Code section 3426.4. Petitioners argued, and the Court concluded, that its earlier denial of summary judgment was not inconsistent with its finding bad faith under the Trade Secrets Act.

More than a year after that judgment was sustained on appeal, Petitioners brought this malicious prosecution action against Latham in Los Angeles Superior Court.

Latham responded by filing an anti-SLAPP motion on two independent grounds: the interim adverse judgment rule and the statute of limitations. The Los Angeles Court granted the motion based on the statute of limitations and did not address the interim adverse judgment rule. The Court of Appeal affirmed based on the interim adverse judgment rule but concluded that the case was not barred by the statute of limitations. The Court of Appeal should have affirmed on both grounds.

Interim Adverse Judgment Rule

The Court of Appeal correctly applied the interim adverse judgment rule to affirm dismissal of Petitioners' claim. Under the

rule, the Santa Barbara Court's denial of summary judgment conclusively establishes that FLIR and Latham met the low threshold for probable cause, which "does not depend upon [the action] being meritorious, as such, but upon it being *arguably tenable*, *i.e.*, not so completely lacking in apparent merit that no reasonable attorney would have thought the claim tenable." (*Wilson, supra*, 28 Cal.4th 811, 824, original italics.) Under well-established case law, including *Wilson*, dismissal of Petitioners' malicious prosecution action was compelled.

Petitioners contend that the interim adverse judgment rule should not apply because (according to Petitioners) the Santa Barbara Court denied summary judgment based on false expert declarations. But the summary judgment ruling refutes that contention. In that order, the Santa Barbara Court explained that Petitioners had themselves created a triable issue with their own evidence. The Court explained that FLIR's expert declarations were relevant only to a second independent ground for denying summary judgment.

As the Court of Appeal stated in the decision here, Petitioners do not and cannot assert that the Santa Barbara Court's first ground for denying summary judgment was induced by the challenged expert declarations. Petitioners' contention also fails because there is no evidence that the challenged declarations were false.

Nor can Petitioners avoid the interim adverse judgment rule based on the Santa Barbara Court's post-trial finding of "bad faith" under the California Uniform Trade Secrets Act. A subsequent ruling cannot undo the probable-cause-determining effect of the earlier denial of summary judgment. As this Court held in *Wilson*, the

interim adverse judgment rule applies even if the interim ruling favoring the plaintiff in the underlying action is "subsequently reversed by the trial or appellate court." (*Wilson*, *supra*, 28 Cal.4th at p. 818.) A subsequent ruling that does not call into question the propriety of the earlier interim ruling cannot have a greater impact.

The interim adverse judgment rule follows from the high standard a malicious prosecution plaintiff must meet to establish a lack of probable cause. The hindsight approach urged by Petitioners is at odds with the principle that "a judge's denial of summary judgment accurately predicts that reasonable lawyers would find a case arguably meritorious." (*Roberts v. Sentry Life Ins.* (1999) 76 Cal.App.4th 375, 384.) The rule permits lawyers with a court-tested case to continue to represent their client without fear of potential tort liability.

In all events, Petitioners themselves successfully argued in the underlying action that the finding of bad faith was not inconsistent with the earlier denial of summary judgment. As Petitioners successfully argued, the Trade Secrets Act standard for bad faith is easier to satisfy than the requirement for "lack of probable cause" in a malicious prosecution action, so while denial of summary judgment precludes "lack of probable cause," that same summary judgment ruling does not preclude a finding of bad faith.

In sum, as the Court of Appeal held, the denial of summary judgment on the merits in the underlying action conclusively established probable cause and precluded Petitioners from establishing the "lack of probable cause" required for their malicious prosecution claim.

Statute of Limitations

Code of Civil Procedure section 340.6 provides a one-year statute of limitations for actions "against an attorney for a wrongful act or omission, other than for actual fraud, arising in the performance of professional services." It is undisputed that Petitioners filed this malicious prosecution action against lawyers more than one year after their claim accrued. As the Los Angeles Superior Court held, Section 340.6 therefore compelled dismissal of this action because Petitioners' claim is based entirely on Latham's acts "in the performance of professional services": representing their clients in court.

The Court of Appeal disagreed based on the same division's decision in *Roger Cleveland Golf Co. v. Krane & Smith, APC* (2014) 225 Cal.App.4th 660, that Section 340.6's one-year statute applies only to actions for professional negligence.

Shortly after the Court of Appeal's decision in this case, this Court stated that *Roger Cleveland* was in error in limiting Section 340.6 to professional negligence claims. (*Lee, supra*, 61 Cal.4th at p. 1239.) This Court held that Section 340.6 applies more broadly to any alleged attorney misconduct so long as the alleged misconduct was "in the course of providing professional services" and would "violate a professional obligation." (*Id.* at p. 1229.) Here, both parts of *Lee*'s test are met. Latham's alleged malicious prosecution occurred "in the course of providing professional services" when it represented its client in court. And the alleged malicious prosecution violates "the professional obligations" found in Rule of Professional Conduct 3-200 and Business and Professions Code section 6068, a

rule and code section that bar a lawyer from acting without probable cause or with malice as a matter of professional responsibility.

The legislative history of Section 340.6 confirms that the statute rightly applies here. The legislative record establishes that the statute was intended to address the effect that liability claims against lawyers were having upon the availability of professional liability insurance, which at the time covered (and which still partially covers) malicious prosecution claims.

To overcome *Lee*, Petitioners argue, for the first time on appeal, that they reasonably relied on "settled prior law" indicating that their claim was subject only to the two-year statute for malicious prosecution claims against non-lawyers. This argument was not raised in the Los Angeles Court and was therefore waived. Moreover, there was no such settled prior law on which Petitioners could reasonably have relied. Nor does the record reflect any evidence of the requisite actual reliance. Section 340.6's one-year limitations period applies. Petitioners' claims are time-barred.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Petitioners' factual recitation is incomplete and, in important respects, wrong.

I. THE UNDERLYING SANTA BARBARA ACTION

In 2004, Petitioners sold Indigo Systems and its trade secrets and intellectual property to FLIR Systems for \$185 million.

Petitioners then worked for the combined companies.¹ Among other things, Indigo had a business manufacturing high volume, low cost, TEC-less microbolometers—sensors used to detect infrared radiation.

In 2005, Petitioners announced that they would be leaving FLIR to start a company that would engage in the high volume production of competing microbolometers—in direct competition with FLIR. They indicated that they intended to implement a 2005 "NuCo" business plan, which they asserted was derived from a 1999 business plan that Petitioner Fitzgibbons created before joining Indigo. However, in the fall of 2005, before departing FLIR's employ, Petitioner Parrish attempted to copy onto a portable drive a FLIR engineering database regarding the design and manufacture of its imaging products.²

In early 2006, after Petitioners left, FLIR became concerned that they would misuse its intellectual property in the new venture. On June 15, 2006, Latham, representing FLIR, filed suit in Santa Barbara alleging misappropriation of trade secrets.³ That Complaint alleged that Petitioners' 2005 NuCo business plan was not derived from the 1999 plan, but instead was taken from a 2004 business plan

This factual summary reflects certain undisputed facts regarding Petitioners' conduct and the underlying Santa Barbara action which were put at issue on the anti-SLAPP motion. In support of that motion, Latham did not attempt to marshal the complete factual record which establishes probable cause.

² Sealed Volume AA 1029, electronic file P03229 at pp. 461-62; AA 0013; Sealed Volume AA 1029, electronic file 03763 at pp. 762-763, 859-860, 886-889.

Sealed Volume AA 1029, electronic file P002929 at pp. 6-29.

that relied on trade secrets FLIR acquired through its \$185 million acquisition of Indigo just two years earlier.⁴

Each Petitioner filed a motion seeking summary judgment or summary adjudication as to each cause of action. Each presented the 1999, 2004 and 2005 business plans in support of his motion. Each argued that "[n]othing in the [2005] NuCo business plan was copied from [the 2004 business plan]. Each asserted that the 2005 NuCo business plan was drawn solely from Petitioner Fitzgibbons' 1999 business plan and that "a simple comparison" of these two plans would establish that the 2005 plan contained none of FLIR's trade secret information.

Citing Whyte v. Schlage Lock Co. (2002) 101 Cal.App.4th 1443, Petitioners also argued in their summary judgment motions that FLIR was impermissibly seeking to pursue a theory of "inevitable disclosure." They explained that, by "inevitable disclosure," they meant a request for "an injunction based on speculation about future

Sealed Volume AA 1029, electronic file P002929 at pp. 9-10, 13-14 [¶¶ 4, 22, 23].

⁵ Sealed Volume AA 1029, electronic file P002929 at pp. 135-138, 205-208.

⁶ Sealed Volume AA 1029, electronic file P003229 at pp. 308-310, 314-315, 327-329, 334.

<sup>Sealed Volume AA 1029, electronic file P003229 at pp. 310,
329.</sup>

Sealed Volume AA 1029, electronic file P003229 at pp. 314-315, 334.

Sealed Volume AA 1029, electronic file P003229 at pp. 313, 318, 332, 337.

misuse of trade secrets." In California, "inevitable disclosure" generally describes a claim based on the notion that a departing employee will "inevitably" use his former employer's trade secrets, based on nothing more than the fact that the employee is entering the employ of an existing competitor.

FLIR opposed the motions by arguing that the 2005 NuCo plan was based on FLIR's protected 2004 plan. ¹¹ FLIR also opposed with evidence that included two very brief declarations, covering just a few pages, from industry experts stating that, other than FLIR, they were unaware of anyone who had "the requisite technology and capability to produce a high volume of bolometers at yields and costs sufficient to support" the 2005 business plan on its stated schedule. ¹² These expert declarations addressed one of the case's core issues: Whether Indigo's trade secrets in the production of low-cost infrared sensors were unique, or whether some other party had technology available for license sufficient to allow Petitioners to implement their 2005 plan on its stated schedule.

FLIR also contested Petitioners' argument that it was asserting an "inevitable disclosure" case. It explained that it was not seeking an injunction merely because Petitioners were entering into competition. Rather, FLIR argued that Petitioners had conceded that implementation of their 2005 plan required someone else's

Sealed Volume AA 1029, electronic file P003229 at p. 313.

Sealed Volume AA 1029, electronic file P003229 at pp. 465-466.

Sealed Volume AA 0217-0222; Sealed Volume AA 1029, electronic file P003229 at pp. 463-465.

technology, not just their own know-how, and FLIR was the only obvious source of that technology. Accordingly, FLIR asserted that it was pursuing a "threatened misappropriation" claim, as authorized by Civil Code section 3426.2, 13 based on, among other things, "[e]xpert testimony [that] establishes that Defendants only could meet [their NuCo business] goals by using FLIR's trade secrets and proprietary technology." 14

On March 21, 2007, the Santa Barbara Court denied Petitioners' summary judgment motions for two independent reasons.¹⁵ First, it held that:

Defendants have failed to sustain their burden of proof on the motion. Defendants have made a compelling argument that they are entitled to judgment at this stage.

Nonetheless, the concepts involved in this action are highly technical. Following a review of the [three business plans], the court is unable to find as a matter of law, for purposes of this motion only, that the plaintiffs own none of the concepts for [Petitioners'] new business, that nothing in the NuCo business plan made use of

Sealed Volume AA 1029, electronic file P003229 at p. 469, 473.

Sealed Volume AA 1029, electronic file P003229 at pp. 456, 468-469.

¹⁵ AA 0081-0089.

plaintiffs' proprietary confidential information, intellectual property, or work product, or that all concepts in the NuCo plan were identical to those in the 1999 plan.¹⁶

In short, before considering any of FLIR's evidence (including the expert declarations), the Santa Barbara Court concluded, based on Petitioners' own evidence, that there was a triable issue with respect to whether their new business plan was taken only from their 1999 plan without using trade secrets embodied in FLIR's 2004 plan. Petitioners do not contend that this first independent ground for summary judgment was induced by materially false statements.

The Santa Barbara Court also identified a second alternative ground for denying summary judgment: "Even if [Petitioners] had sustained their burden of proof on the motion, plaintiffs have produced sufficient evidence, for example with the [two expert] declarations, to raise a triable issue as to misappropriation of trade secrets." Petitioners argue that this second ground was induced by misrepresentations in the expert declarations.

Petitioners contend that "[the Santa Barbara Court in the underlying action] specifically found that FLIR (and Latham) 'opposed the summary judgment motion with expert declarations

AA 0087. In summarizing the parties' arguments, the Santa Barbara Court stated: "Per the defendants' declarations, nothing in the NuCo business plan was copied from the 2004 presentation. (Disputed by [FLIR] – Sundermeier declaration, Exhibit A.)." (AA 0087.)

¹⁷ AA 0087.

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